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Introduction  
In 1675 Robert Lever built a family crypt in the grounds of his home at Alkrington Hall. (Map 

reference SD867054) ¢ƘŜ ŎǊȅǇǘ ǿŀǎ ƴŜǾŜǊ ǳǎŜŘΤ wƻōŜǊǘ ŀƴŘ Ƙƛǎ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ǿŜǊŜ ƛƴǘŜǊǊŜŘ ŀǘ {ǘ [ŜƻƴŀǊŘΩǎ 

Church in nearby Middleton.  

The walls and lower half of the crypt lie partially covered with soil and undergrowth 200M northwest 

of the present Hall in what is now Alkrington Woods Nature Reserve. This later hall was built by 

wƻōŜǊǘǎΩǎ ƎǊŀƴŘǎƻƴ 5ŀǊŎȅ [ŜǾŜǊ ƛƴ мтос ŀƴŘ ƛǎ ŎǳǊǊŜƴǘƭȅ ŀ DǊŀŘŜ LLϝ ƭƛǎǘŜŘ ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎ ŎƻƴǾŜǊǘŜŘ into 

residential accommodation. 

This paper records the details of the crypt together with documentary history of Robert Lever and 

his family. 

The Crypt  Layout  
The best documentary evidence of the crypt comes from a sketch book belonging to the Lees family 

who purchased the hall and estate in 1884. A page of the sketch 

book was copied by a descendant of Robert Lever, Kate Pearce 

Ellis in 1939 and forwarded to Middleton library.  See Figure 1 

Some of the inscriptions from inside the crypt were removed 

ŦƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎ ǾŀƴŘŀƭƛǎƳ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ мфслΩǎ ŀƴŘ ǿŜǊŜ later built into a 

nearby garden wall1for safe keeping. The wording of the wall 

inscription corresponds with the Kate Pearce Ellis sketch. Robert 

LeverǎΩ heraldic quartering is part of the surviving inscription 

and is interpreted in the appendix. A photograph of a broken 

date stone confirms the 1675 date. 

There were three coffin shaped holes on the floor of the crypt 

possibly for Robert Lever, his wife Anne (nee Mosley) and 

perhaps their first child Robert although their second son John 

was born during the year of construction. 

                                                           
1
 14 Woodfield Road, Alkrington 

Figure 1 1939 description of crypt 
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Details of Wall Inscription 

 
Moderation and Obedience 
 

 
Figure 3 Lever Quartering 

 
Worlds Rudeness 

Soul to God: Body rest here 
 

Experience of mortality 

Resurrection in Christ 
 

Respects for dead 

The Prayers of Founder R.L. Foundation hereof R.L. 

 

Floor Inscription 

Momento Mo-men-to 
LIFE FFraile GODôS Alsufficiency 
Death: Certain Sin Sting. Christôs Victory 
Heaven : Happiness Halleluiahs Holynesse 
Hell : Torments Soulôs immortality 

Length of Eternity 

Alkrington Cave 

Lintel over doorway 

 

 

 

 

  

Robert             Anno.Domini 

     Lever               1675 

 

Figure 2  Surviving wall inscription with Lever Quartering 2.1M x 0.32M 

 

Figure 4 datestone 
(location unknown) 
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MAS Investigation  
A short archaeological investigation of the crypt was undertaken by members of Middleton 

Archaeological Society (Cliff Ivers and Robert Huddart) in January 2016. Details of the location of the 

crypt was provided by local historians Collette Wagstaff and Jim Hilton of the Old Middleton New 

Middleton Facebook group.  

The location is on the edge of a slope leading away from the Hall and at the top of a valley with a 

steep drop towards the estates North West border, the river Irk. The area is now densely wooded 

but would have possibly been a scenic viewpoint in the 17th century. The area is known as Kitchen 

Wood and there are remnants of machined brick foundations nearby that have been identified on 

the 1891 OS map as Vineries (Greenhouses for growing grape vine) 

 

Figure 5 1891 Estate map with crypt location 

 A tree was growing out from the centre of the crypt. This and a large amount of undergrowth were 

kindly removed by the Alkrington Park ranger and a team of local green volunteers. The roof of the 

crypt was no longer present and the structure had been back filled with soil and rubble. A damaged 

modern iron gate is fitted over a staircase on the eastern aspect of the structure.  

A local resident remembers her father lowering her through the gap in the gate to look around the 

crypt in the 1960s. At some time after this the roof collapsed and there was considerable vandalism 

of the structure with the inscriptions being smashed and thrown down the adjacent valley. 

It appears the crypt was an underground brick construction with a stone staircase leading to a lintel 

doorway at the southwest corner. The roof would have been suspended slightly above ground level. 

Some slots were identified at the top of the internal walls possibly to support beams for the roof. 

The walls of the crypt were of hand-made brick typically 230 x 115 x 60mm. The bricks were three 

deep and jointed with lime mortar of 15-25mm thickness. There was no recognisable bonding 

pattern. 

MAS did not have the resources to remove the deposited soil and rubble from inside the crypt so it is 

unclear of its depth or layout However, based upon the Lees family sketch, the possible location of 
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the pits for the coffins and the carvings have been marked in dotted lines on the plan. (it has been 

assumed that the corpses would have been facing east in accordance with Christian tradition at the 

time) 

There were no finds to support the dating of the crypt. The size of the bricks suggests they were 

fired between 1571 and 17692. The estate had abundant clay deposits as well as a colliery and 

brickworks identified in the ŜŀǊƭȅ муллΩǎ ǎǳƎƎŜǎǘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ōǊƛŎƪǎ ǿŜǊŜ Ƴƻǎǘ ƭƛƪŜƭȅ ƭƻŎŀƭƭȅ ƳŀŘŜΦ  

The dimensions of the top of the crypt were recorded and a plan is shown the appendix. All 

excavations we refilled to protect the remnants. Several months after the investigation, a MAS 

member Mr Geoff Wellens confirmed the location of the surviving wall inscription. It has been built 

into a rear garden wall at 14 Woodfield Road, Alkrington and the home owners kindly allowed MAS 

to record it. 

Attempts have been made to identify the heraldic quartering found on the wall inscription and an 

interpretation is shown in the appendix. 

 

  

  

                                                           
2
 Hammond, M. Bricks and Brickmaking.Shire Library.2012.Page 30 
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Photographs taking during 2016 investigation     

 

  

  

 
 

 

Figure 6 looking west Figure 7 looking northeast 

Figure 10 looking north west 

Figure 9 lintel over door Figure 8 looking east 

Figure 11 looking north 
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Robert Lever 3 
The two sons of Robert Lever of Darcy Lever purchased the Alkrington Estate from the Legh family in 

1627.  Robert Lever, his first son, was a clothier in London, and died unmarried about 1642; John 

Lever, another son, was 'of Alkrington,' and died in 1645, being buried at Middleton.  

 WƻƘƴΩǎ ŜƭŘŜǎǘ ǎƻƴ wƻōŜǊǘ όǿƘƻ ŎƻƳƳƛǎǎƛƻƴŜŘ ǘƘŜ !ƭƪǊƛƴƎǘƻƴ ŎǊȅǇǘύ ǿŀǎ ōƻǊƴ ƛƴ мсно ŀƴŘ ƳŀǊǊƛŜŘ 

Anne the daughter and heiress of Nicholas Mosley of Collyhurst Hall. In 1681 the possessions of 

Robert Lever were recorded and amongst the large collection of land and estates held was the 

manor and township of Alkrington together with its water mill. 

wƻōŜǊǘǎΩǎ ǘǿƻ ǎƻƴǎΣ wƻōŜǊǘ όb1672) and John (b1675) went to Brasenose College, Oxford and studied 

Law. They both became barristers at DǊŜȅǎ Lƴƴ ōǳǘ wƻōŜǊǘ ǎŀŘƭȅ ǿŀǎ ΨǎǘǊƛǇǘ ŀƴŘ ƳǳǊŘŜǊŜŘΩ ŀǘ 

Highgate in 1699. Robert senior was perhaps ŜȄǇŜǊƛŜƴŎƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ΨŦǊŀƛƭǘȅ ƻŦ ƭƛŦŜΩ ŀƴŘ ΨŜȄǇŜǊƛŜƴŎŜ ƻŦ 

ƳƻǊǘŀƭƛǘȅΩ ǘƘŀǘ ǿŀǎ ŎŀǊǾŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ !ƭƪǊƛƴƎǘƻƴ /ǊȅǇǘ some years earlier. He died in 1710 reaching the 

remarkable age of 87 having previously gained permission from the bishop to eat meat during lent 

due to his age and bodily infirmities4. Robert was interred at Middleton Church and it remains 

unclear why he built the crypt for three at Alkrington at about tƘŜ ǘƛƳŜ ƻŦ Ƙƛǎ ǎŜŎƻƴŘ ǎƻƴΩǎ ōƛǊǘƘΦ 

John Lever, who had achieved an M.A. at the early age 15, married Francis Foley of Prestwood, 

Buckinghamshire before returning north to live at Collyhurst Hall which the family had inherited 

through his mother Anne Mosley.   John died in 1718 aged 43, and was succeeded by his son Sir 

Darcy Lever.  Darcy was appointed High Sheriff of Lancashire in 1736, and was later knighted.  He 

married Dorothy, a daughter and coheir of the Rev. William Ashton, rector of Prestwich. He rebuilt 

Alkrington Hall in 1736 to a design by Giacomo Leoni.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
3
 Information sourced from Victoria County History of Lancashire, www.Dorothygoresky.com and Middleton 

Parish Records 
4
 Gastrell Notita ii p109 

Figure 12 Sir Darcy Lever 

Figure 13 early sketch of Leoni's 
Alkrington Hall 
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{ƛǊ 5ŀǊŎȅ [ŜǾŜǊΩǎ ŜƭŘŜǎǘ ǎƻƴΣ {ƛǊ !ǎƘǘƻƴ [ŜǾŜǊ ό. мтнфύΣ ǿŀǎ ŀƭǎƻ ƳŀŘŜ High Sheriff in 1771, and 

knighted in 1778, He collected a large museum of curiosities, which was exhibited at Alkrington Hall. 

Wishing at length to dispose of it, he obtained an Act of Parliament 

authorizing him to do so by a lottery, and in 1785 the drawing took place. 

The winner afterwards exhibited the collection in London, and it was not 

dispersed until 1806. Ashton died in 1788 without issue. 

 Sir Ashton was succeeded by his brother the Rev. John Lever, who left 

several children.  The younger son, John, settled at Alkrington, and died 

in 1834, aged sixty-two. The estate then passed to his nephew Dorning 

Rasbotham, who in 1844 sold it to John Lees and his brothers of Clark's 

Field near Oldham for £57,550.   

The estate was offered at public auction by the Lees family in 1896. It 

consisted of the Hall and park, 13 farms, 17 cottages, a working colliery 

and brick works. It was spread over 712 acres of land. The 20th century 

heralded the development of Alkrington Garden Village over much of the 

farmland. However Alkrington hall was converted into flats and remains overlooking the park which 

is now a nature reserve and woodland. 

 

 

Figure 15 Alkrington Hall present day

Figure 14 Sir Ashton Lever 
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